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ELBING

als ehemaliger englischer Handelsplatz.
as an former English Trading Centre.

SchmiedestraBe 10.
Erbaut 1598 von Alexander J. Niesebeth.

Erected in by Alexander J. Niesebeth.



Giebelfigur
SchmiedestrafRe 10
mit den Initialen

des Bauherrn

Alexander

J. Niesebeth.

Gable figure on
Schmiedestrasse 10,
bearing the ini-
tials of the builder
Alexander
J. Niesebeth.

Die Niederlassung der englischen
Ostland - Kompagnie in Elbing.

The Settlement of the English
Eastland Company at Elbing.

Elbing ist vom Deutschen Ritterorden
im Jahre 1237 an einer Stelle gegrindet
worden, die durch ihre Lage zu einem
natUrlichen Handelsplatz vorausbestimmt
ist. Hier am ostlichen Rande des
Weichseldeltas kommt die von Berlin,
bzw. Frankfurt an der Oder, nach Osten
fuhrende Handelsstral’e der Kiste so
nahe, daB se durch das Frische Haff
und den FluB Elbing auf dem Seeweg
erreichbar wird. AuRerdem schneidet die
Ost-West-Linie in der Weichsd eine

Elbing was founded by the Order of
German Knights in 1237, a a spot pre-
destined by nature to serve as a trading
post. It is Situated on the eastern rim
of the Vistula Delta, and the commer-
cia route to the east from Berlin and
Francfort on the Oder passes by so close
to the coast, as to enable it to be within
easy reach by sea, by way of the
Frisches Haff and the river Elbing.
Moreover, it is here that the east to
west route cuts the Vistula route run-
ning from north to south and to this,



Elbing, Stadtbild am Elbing; links St. Marien, rechts St. Nikolai.

Elbing, view of the town from am Elbing. St. Mary's on the left,
St. Nicolas' on the right.

nordsudliche Verkehrslinie, an die Elbing durch die
Nogat, den 0&stlichsten Arm des Weichseldeltas, und den
Kraffohlkanal angeschlossenist. Neben der Wasserstral3e
der Weichsel war friher der ebenfalls aus ihrem Mdun-
dungsgebiet sudlich nach Krakau und Lemberg und weiter
zur Krim fohrende Landweg von Bedeutung. Hinsichtc-]

Elbing has easy access by way of the Nogat, the eastern-
most branch of the Vistula, and further by way of the
Kraffohl canal. In former days there was also a land-
route — apart from the waterway of the Vistula —
which started from the Vistula Delta, leading south to
Cracow and Lemberg and further on to the Crimea.
Danzig, the harbour proper of the Vistula, is no doubt
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lich der Nord-Sud-Linie liegt Danzig, der eigentliche
Weichselhafen, gunstiger als Elbing; dagegen hat Elbing
seine eigene Bedeutung darin, dal es als Seehafen noch an
der ostwestlichen Handelsstrafl3e liegt, wahrend nach Dan-
zig von dieser aus nur eine Nebenlinie fahrt. Die topo-
graphischen Bedingungen, die den Weg der alten Han-
delsstral3e bestimmt haben, leiteten im 19. Jahrhundert
auch die Haupteisenbahnlinie nach Osten tUber Elbing.
Wie bei diesen natirlichen Verkehrsbedingungen in der
Gegend von Elbing schon in vorgeschichtlicher Zeit ein
Handelsplatz , Truso* bestanden hat, so hat auch spater
die Stadt Elbing stets eine Rolle als Handelsplatz gespielt.

Handel sbeziehungen zu England konnten daher kaum
ausbleiben und waren schon im 14. Jahrhundert recht leb-
haft. Dald aber Elbing eine Zeitlang der Hauptsitz des
a a
more favourably situated than Elbing, if we merely look
at it from the point of view of the north to south route.
On the other hand, Elbing had a significance of its own,
in that it was a seaport situated on the commercial road
leading from east to west, while Danzig was side-tracked
from this important route. The topographical conditions
prevailing when the route of the old commercial road
was determined, remained a governing factor in the
laying out of the route of the main railway line to the
east, in the 19th. century, and caused it to touch Elbing.
Just as in pre-historic times these natural traffic con-
ditions in the vicinity of Elbing led to the establishment
of a commercial settlement called “Truso”, so in later
days Elbing was bound to play an important role as
a trading post.

So we see that general trade relations between England
and Elbing were a contingency to be expected. In the
14th. century they had already become very lively. That



Teil der Spieringstralle und enge Gasse,
Héuser aus dem 17. Jahrhundert.

Part of Spieringstrasse and the enge Gasse.
Houses of the 17th. century.

englischen Handels im Ostseegebiet wurde, beruht auf
verschiedenen historischen Vorgangen. Im Jahre 1454
hatte sich das westliche Preuf3en nach langen inneren
Kampfen aus dem geistlichen Ordensstaat gelést und unter
die Oberhoheit des Konigs von Polen gestellt; die drei

a
Elbing, however, became — for a time at least — the man
seat of English trade in the Baltic countries, is due to a
variety of historic events. In the year 1454, after pro-
longed struggles within, West-Prussia had separated
itself from the Spiritual Order State and had subjected
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groRBen Stadte Danzig, Elbing, Thorn hatten dabei die
Stellung autonomer Republiken erreicht. 1577 brach

zwischen Danzig und Konig Stephan Bathory ein Krieg
aus. Da der polnische Konig militdrisch keine Erfolge
erringen konnte, suchte er Danzig wirtschaftlich zu sché&

digen und bestimmte, dal’ die polnische Ausfuhr seewarts

fortan Uber Elbing gehen mifdte. Der Elbinger Rat r&umte
fUr diese Beglnstigung den Polen den freien Handel in

Elbing ein. Bisher hatte in Elbing wie in alen Hanse-
gstadten das Recht gegolten, dal3 die fremden Kaufleute
nur mit Elbinger Blrgern, aber nicht untereinander Ge-
schéfte abschliel?en durften. Der freie Handel von Gast
zu Gast war auch langst das Ziel der englischen Kaufleute
auf dem Festland. 1567 war ihnen das Recht des freien
Handels, zunédchst allerdings nur vortbergehend, in Ham-

C O
itself to the sovereignty of the King of Poland. In so
doing, the three big towns of Danzig, Elbing and Thorn
had attained the position of autonomous republics. In
1577 war broke out between Danzig and King Stephan
Bathory, and since the Polish king failed to gain any
military advantage over his enemies, he tried to injure
Danzig commerce and trade by ordering al the Polish
export by sea to be henceforth directed by way of
Elbing. In return for this preferment, the Council of
Elbing conceded to the Poles free trade in Elbing. Hitherto
it had been the law in Elbing — as in al the Hanseatic
towns — for foreign traders to do business with none
but the citizens of Elbing: all business among themselves
was dtrictly prohibited. Now, the English merchants on
the continent had for a long time been trying to attain
this very object of being allowed to trade with each

other. In 1567 the right of free trading had been con-
ceded to them by Hamburg — abeit only temporaily at

6



Bollwerkskrug (Siebengiebelhaus),
erbaut 1637 durch Johannes Slocumbe.

Bollwerkskrug (House of the Seven Gables).
Erected in 1637 by John Slocumbe.



burg zugestanden worden. Am Ostseehandel war Eng-
land durch die damals notwendig gebrauchte Einfuhr von
Getreide und Schiffbaumaterial aus Preuf3en stark be-
teiligt. Ging nun Elbing vom hansischen Gésterecht
ab, 90 muléte dieser Handelsplatz eine erhthte An-
ziehungskraft fur die englischen Kaufleute gewinnen, die
nach den Ostseelandern, d. h. hauptsachlich nach Preuf3en,
Handel trieben. Diese hatten sich 1579 auf Veranlassung
der englischen Regierung zur
Ostland-K ompagnie zusam-
mengeschlossen und ein Han-
delsmonopol fur ihr Gebiet
erhalten. Als nun Elbing der
Konigin Elisabeth fur ihre
Untertanen ebenfalls freien
Handel und die Erlaubnis zu
w] 0O
first. England happened to
be keenly interested in Baltic
trade, for she badly needed
the import of grain and ship-
Wandmalerei im Bollwerkskrug.  building material from Prus-
Mural painting sia. Therefore, if Elbing
in the Bollwerkskrug. deviated from the hanseatic
law of hospitality, it was
bound to become highly attractive as a trading post for
the English merchants doing business with the Baltic
countries, particularly with Prussia.  Supported by
their Government the English merchants had combined
in 1579, under the title of the Eastland Company, and
had managed to obtain a trading monopoly in their
district. When Elbing offered to Queen Elizabeth free
trade for her subjects, and the permission for them to
settle in Elbing, the path for an agreement, was clear and
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einer Niederlassung anbot, kam eine Verstandigung bald
zustande, und der englische Geheime Rat bestimmte noch
1579, dai3 alle nach Preuf3en segelnden englischen Schiffe
in Elbing loschen mufdten. Mit einigen Verzdgerungen,
aber ohne grofRe Schwierigkeiten wurde dann zwischen
den englischen Bevollméachtigten und dem Elbinger Rat
ein Vertrag vereinbart, der den Englandern auf3er dem
Recht des freien Grofthandels eine privilegierte Fremden-
kolonie mit weitgehender
Selbstverwaltung ihrer inne-
ren Angelegenheiten, ferner
das Recht des Grunderwerbs
und eine ganze Reihe Vorteile
sicherte, den Elbinger Kauf-
leuten in England aber die -}
volle Gegenseitigkeit zu-

forthwith, in 1579, orders
were issued by the English
Privy Council for al vessels
bound for Prussia to dis

charge their cargoes at EI-  wandmalerei im Bollwerkskrug.
bing. An agreement, although Mural painting
delayed somewhat, was fi- in the Bollwerkskrug.

nally arrived at without any

difficulties to speak of, between the English plenipoten-
tiaries and the Council of Elbing. This agreement secured
to the English subjects, apart from the right of free
wholesale trading, a privileged foreign colony with
power of liberal selfgovernment as far as their interior
affairs were concerned, — besides the right of acquiring
real estate, and quite a number of other advantages, —
while the Elbing merchants in England were granted
Privileges in full accordance with those received. Both

9



Wappen der Ostland-Kompagnie und der Stadt London an der
Westfront des Bollwerkskruges.

Coats-of-arms of the Eastland-Company ard of the city of London,
on the westfront of the Bollwerkskrug.

gestand. Beide Vertragsparteien legten Wert darauf,
diesen Vertrag vom Konig von Polen as Oberherrn von
Westpreul3en bestétigen zu lassen. Diese Bestatigung war
infolge der politischen Gegenbemihungen Danzigs, das
sich unterdessen mit Stephan Bathory ausgesthnt hatte,
trotz aller Anstrengungen nicht zu erhalten; ander-
seits unternahm der Konig auch nichts Ernstliches
gegen die englische Niederlassung in Elbing. Schlief3-
d o
contracting parties were anxious for this agreement to be
sanctioned by the King of Poland, he being the lord over
West-Prussia. However, as a result of politica machi-
nations on the part of Danzig which, in the meantime,
had come to terms with Stephan Bathory, this sanction
could not be obtained, despite the ardent endeavours of
the parties. On the other hand, the Polish king abstained
from serious interference with the English settlement at
Elbing. Finally, in 1585 the contracting parties were

10



Wappen der Stadt Elbing und der Grocers Livery Company an der
Westfront des Bollwerkskruges.
Coats-of-arms of the town of Elbing and of the Grocers’ Livery
Company, On the westfront of the Bollwerkskrug.

lich begnigte man sich 1585 mit einem zwischen der
Ostland-Kompagnie und der Stadt Elbing abgeschlosse-
nen Vertrag. Schon seit 1580 aber hatte sich in
Elbing eine bluhende englische Handelsniederlassung ent-
wickelt.

Aus England wurden nach Elbing hauptsachlich Tuche
eingefuhrt, daneben groBe Mengen Kaninfelle, ferner
Lamm- und Fuchsfelle, gestrickte Strimpfe, Weilleder,
a a
content with an agreement arrived at between the East-
land Company and the city of Elbing. A flourishing
English trade settlement had already established itself at
Elbing as far back as 1580.

As to the articles exported into Elbing from England,
these chiefly consisted of cloth, but other articles were
exported besides, such as rabbit-skins, lamb- and fox-
skins, knitted stockings white leather, tin, lead, hard
coal, grind-stones, salt, wine, raisins, almonds, figs,
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Zinn, Blel, Steinkohlen, Schleifsteine, Wetzsteine, Salz,
Wein, Rosinen, Mandeln, Feigen, Anis, Indisch Blau.
Nach England ausgefiihrt wurde vor allem Getreide und
Schiffbaumaterial, aber auch eine Reihe anderer Roh-
stoffe und Produkte: Weizen, Roggen, Gerste, Mehl,
verschiedene Holzsorten, Teer, Pech, Kupfer, Eisen
(Osemund), Schiffsaifen, Schiffswachs, Hanf, Garn, Seile,
Riemen, preuflische, schlessche und krakauische Lein-
wand, Flachs, Leinsamen, Wolle, Federn, Pottasche, Pul-
ver, Alaun, Bernstein. In den Jahren 1594, 1596, 1597
liefen in Elbing seewarts ein 193, 216, 248 Schiffe, dar-
unter 64, 63, 74 mit Ladung aus England. In den gleichen
Jahren liefen von Elbing seewérts aus 193, 218, 247
Schiffe, davon nach England 86, 76, 97. Von den eng-
lischen Hafen waren am starksten London, Hull, New-
castle und Ipswich beteiligt.

Beinahe flnfzig Jahre hat die englische Nieder-
aniseed, indigo. England, on the other hand, took up
grain and, above all, ship-building materials, but also
a number of other raw materials and produce such as
wheat, rye, corn, flour, various kinds of wood, tar, pitch,
copper, iron (Osemund), ships' iron, ships wax, hemp,
twine, ropes, straps, Prussian, Silesian and Cracovian
linen, flax, linseed, wool, feathers, potash, powder, alum,
amber. During the years 1594, 1596 and 1597 there
arrived at Elbing 193, 216 and 248 seagoing vessels, of
which 64, 63 and 74 carried cargoe from England. In the
corresponding years, 193, 218 and 247 vessels departed
from Elbing seabound, of which 86, 76 and 97 sailed for
England. Among the English ports participating in this
trade were London, Hull, Newcastle and Ipswich.

For well nigh fifty years did this English settlement in
Elbing last. In 1626 the war between Sweden and

12
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Einfuhrungsschreiben Karls 1. an den Elbinger Rat fir
seinen Gesandten Franz Gordon und die Kaufleute
Richard Jenks und Johannes Slocumbe. Westminster,
1637, 4. November. Original im Stadtarchiv Elbing.

Letter of introduction signed by Charles |., addressed to
the Elbing Council, in favour of his ambassador Frank
Gordon and of Richard Jenks and John Slocumbe,
merchants. Dated Westminster, 1637, 4. November.
Original preserved in the Municipal Archives at Elbing.



lassung in Elbing bestanden. 1626 brach der schwedisch-
polnische Krieg aus, und noch 1626 wurde Elbing von
Gustav Adolf besetzt. Durch den Krieg wurde der El-
binger Handel empfindlich gestort. Auf3erdem erreichte
Danzig im Jahre 1628, dal3 Polen die Einfuhr englischer
Tuche Uber Elbing sperrte und nur noch die Einfuhr Uber
Danzig zuliel}. Damit hatten die jahrzehntelangen Be-
muhungen Danzigs, den englischen Handel wieder aus
Elbing zu vertreiben oder abzulenken, Erfolg. \/erhand-
lungen Uber eine neue Niederlassung der Ostland-Kom-
pagnie in Danzig verliefen aber schlieflich ergebnislos.
MuRte anderseits die Ostland-Kompagnie ihren Elbinger
Stapelplatz nun auch aufgeben, so blieb doch eine groliere
Anzahl englischer und schottischer Kaufleute in Elbing
zurick. Nach dem Abzug der Schweden aus Elbing im
Jahre 1636 hat Konig Carl 1. von England noch mehrere

Poland broke out and in 1626 Elbing was occupied by
Gustavus Adolphus. The war had disastrous effects on
the trade of Elbing, but beyond that, in 1628 Danzig
succeeded in its' endeavours to induce Poland to put a
stop to the import of English cloth into Elbing. Hence-
forth English cloth could be imported into Danzig alone.
Thus, after ten years of fruitless pains, Danzig had
crowned with success its endeavours, which amed at
drawing away English trade from Elbing, or at |east
deviating it from there. Negotiations concerning a new
settlement of the Eastland Companv at Danzig came to
nothing in the end. While, however, the Eastland
Company was constrained to remove with its staple
trade from Elbing, there still remained a goodly number
of English and Scottish merchants in resdence at Elbing.
After the Swedes had withdrawn from Elbing in 1636,
King Charles I. of England caused negotiations to be
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Jahre Uber eine Wiedererrichtung der Niederlassung der
Ostland-Kompagnie in Elbing verhandeln lassen, ohne
da es dazu gekommen wére. Die englische Kolonie
bestand aber fort; die lange Ansdssigkeit, erworbener
Grundbesitz, neu geknupfte Familienbande und an-
scheinend auch jetzt noch ausreichende Geschaftsmdoglich-
keiten durften se gehalten haben. Dazu hatte Elbing von
Anfang an den englischen Kaufleuten unter bestimmten
Voraussetzun-

gen auch den

Erwerb des El-

binger Bilrger-

rechts zuge- Familienwappen

standen. _derer Ramsey
im Ex-libris des

- - Ratsherrn Carl

Ernst Ramsey
(1721-1773).

taken up for a
renewed settle-
ment of the
Eastland Cc_)m' - =, the Ramseys
pany at Elbing, . R THECA in the ex-libris of
but without CAROLI;:EBXESIIR‘Q'EF{ councillor Char-
ever attaining Pra Conful Elbinz  les Emest Ramsey
his object. The (Ar2i-1rrs.
English colony, however, continued to exist, because
the long years of domicile, acquired landed pro-
perty, or new family ties bound its members to the old
home, and to all appearances there remained sufficient
prospects of business for them to stay. Moreover, Elbing
had, from the very start, conceded to the English
merchants the privilege of acquiring the right of
citizenship, under certain conditions.

Coat-of-arms of




Erinnerungen an die Ostland-Kompagnie
und die Engléander als Elbinger Burger.

Recollections of the Eastland Company,
and Englishmen as Citizens of Elbing.

Von dem Recht, Grundbesitz zu erwerben, haben die
Englénder alsbald Gebrauch gemacht und sind dadurch
mit der Baugeschichte Elbings eng verbunden. Seit der
Mitte des 16. Jahrhunderts hatte in Elbing eine neue Bau-
periode eingesetzt. Neben die alten Fachwerk- und die
groflen gotischen Steinhauser traten nun Renaissance- und
Barockbauten, so erhielt 1550-56 das damalige Rathaus
eine neue Renaissancefassade. FlUr einen grof3en Ausbau
der Festungswerke zog die Stadt auswartige Baumeister
heran, durch die der Einflu3 der niederlandischen Re-
naissance in Elbing wirksam wurde. Hatte diese neue
Bauperiode auch schon seit der Mitte des 16. Jahr-

The Englishmen at Elbing very willingly availed
themselves of the right to acquire landed property, and
so their being closely bound up with the building-history
of Elbing is easily explained. From the middle of the
16th. century a new architectural period manifested itself.
Side by side with the old wood-and-mortar buildings and
the large gothic stone houses, there rose up structures in
the renaissance and baroque styles. Thus between 1550 and
1556 the Townhall of those days was dressed anew in
a renaissance facade. Foreign builders were attracted to
the town by the grand extension of the fortifications,
and it was their influence that caused the Dutch
renaissance to obtain a footing in Elbing. While this new
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Abendmahlskelch und Schale aus dem Kirchensilber der Refor-
mierten Gemeinde, gewidmet 1683 von Wilhelm Durham
und 1692 von der Schottischen Bruderschaft.
Chalice and Salver, pat of the Church silver of the Reformed

Community, dedicated in 1683 by William Durham and in
1692 by the Scottish Brotherhood.

hunderts begonnen, o féllt ihre Blute doch erst mit dem
Aufschwung des Elbinger Wirtschaftslebens zusammen,
den die Niederlassung der englischen Ostland-Kompagnie
hervorrief. Damals entstanden durch Um- und Neu-
bauten die meisten Privathduser, die der Altstadt noch
heute ihren kinstlerischen Reiz verleihen. Am ge
o O
building-period had started as far back as the middle o
the 16th. century, yet its efflorescence only coincides
with the enormous impetus to the economic life of Elbing
which followed in the train of the establishment of the
English Eastland Company. At that time the re-building
and the erection of most of those private houses took
place which to-day lend such artistic charm to the Old

17



Blick vom S.-Nikolai-Turm nach Norden: St. Marien, Schichau-
Werft, im Hintergrund das Frische Haff.

North-view from St. Nicolas’ tower: St. Mary's, ship-building
yard of Schichau, in the distance the Frisches Haff.

schlossengsten hat sich das Bild jener Zeit in der Spiering-
stral3e erhalten. Als Hausbesitzer und Bauherren haben
Mitglieder der englischen Kolonie auch unmittelbaren An-
teil an der Gestaltung des Stadtbildes genommen. So
geht eins der stattlichsten Hauser, Schmiedestral3e 10, auf
den Schotten Alexander J. Niesebeth zuriick, der es 1598

Town. An amost perfect picture of the times has come
down to us in the Spieringstrasse. Both as owners and as
builders of houses, the members of the English Colony
actively participated in the re-formation of the artistic
aspect of the town. Thus, one of the stateliest houses —
Schmiedestrasse 10 — dates back to a Scotchman
named Alexander J. Niesebeth who had it built in 1598.



St. Marien, evangelifche Hauptkirche der Altftadt, ehemal
Dominikanerkirche; Chor

14. Jahrhundert, erneuert und ausgebaut 1504—13.

ige
aus dem 13., Kirche aus dem

St. Mary’s, main evangelical church of the Old Town, formerly
2 Dominican Church. The Choir dating back to the 13th,, the
church to the r4th. century, renovated and enlarged 1§04—13.
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errichten und auf einem Schild, den ein Lowe als Giebel-
figur halt, seine Initialen anbringen lieR. Im Norden der
Stadt besal3en die englischen Kaufleute einen Landsitz,
dessen Quelle und danach auch die heute dort bestehende
Brauerei noch den Namen Englisch Brunnen tragen.
Weiter nordlich, ungefahr an der Mindung des Elbing-
flusses in das Frische Haff, erbaute 1637 John Slocumbe
aus London, einer der in Elbing gebliebenen englischen
Kaufleute, an Stelle eines abgebrannten Kruges das
Siebengiebelhaus. Der Hauptbau tragt in allen Raumen
eine Ausmalung aus der Zeit der Erbauung. An der Flulz-
seite des Gebadudes sind die Wappen der Ostland-Kom-
pagnie, der Stadte London und Elbing und der Grocers
Livery Company in Stein ausgehauen.

Von den Englandern, die das Elbinger Blrgerrecht er-
a
He had it crowned with a lion for a gable-figure,
grasping in its pranks a shield on which the builder’'s
initials can be seen.  Then again, in the North there was
a country-seat owned by English merchants: to this day
the spring that bubbles up there — and for the matter of
that, a brewery which is now standing there — is still
called the ,,Englisch Brunnen”. Further north, near the
estuary of the river Elbing into the Frisches Haff, John
Slocumbe of London erected the House of the Seven Ga-
bles (Siebengiebelhaus) on the site of an old inn which
had been burnt down. Slocumbe was one of those Eng-
lishmen who had remained behind at Elbing. The whole
of the inside walls of the main structure is painted over
with decorations of the period of its erection. On the
river side of the building the coats-of-arms of the East-
land Company, of the cities of London and Elbing, and
of the Grocers' Livery Company are hewn in stone.

Of the Englishmen who had acquired the right of
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Kreuzgang von St. Marien.

S.

Cloisters of St. Mary
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warben, wurden im Laufe des 17. Jahrhunderts funf in
den Rat gewahlt. 1631 wurde Georg Willmson der erste
englische Ratsherr in Elbing, 1641 folgte Georg Larding,
1661 Carl Ramsey der Aeltere, 1665 Andreas Willmson,
1685 Carl Ramsey der Jingere, der Sohn des erstgenann-
ten. Dieser jungere Ramsey wurde 1693 Burgermeister
und 1694 Prasidierender Blrgermeister von Elbing. Der
dltere Ratsherr Carl Ramsey war als Sohn eines gleich-
namigen, aus Dundee eingewanderten Kaufmanns 1616
in Elbing geboren. Mannliche Nachkommen haben hier
bis 1863 gelebt.

Eine anndhernde Vorstellung von der zahlenméfigen
Starke der englischen Kolonie durfte die Matrikel des
1535 begrindeten Elbinger Gymnasiums bieten. Unter
den von 1598 bis 1627 neu eingetragenen 4035 Schilern
finden sich rund 212 Prozent Englénder. Von der Ver-
a Q
citizenship in Elbing, five were elected town-councillors
in the course of the 17th. century. The first English
town-councillor elected by Elbing was George Willmson
in 1631. Then there followed George Larding in 1641,
Charles Ramsey senior in 1661, Andrew W. Willmson
in 1665, and Charles Ramsey junior, son of the above,
in 1685. The latter was elected mayor in 1693
and became presiding mayor of Elbing in 1694. The
town-councillor Charles Ramsey senior had been born at
Elbing in 1616 and was the son of an immigrated
merchant from Dundee. Male descendants lived here
until 1863.

We are, perhaps, enabled to gather an approximate
idea of the numerical strength of the English Colony, by
esamining the matricle of the Elbing Classical School
which was founded in 1535. Among the 4035 scholars
inscribed between 1598 and 1627, a round 212 per cent
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Doppelgrabstein  von Bartholoméus Meienreis und
Johannes Slocumbe aus London, 1621, im Kreuzgang
von St. Marien.

Double tombstone of Bartolomaus Meienreis and Jo hn
Slocumbe of London, dated 1621. In the cloisters
of St. Mary’'s.
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bindung der englischen Kolonie mit dem Gymnasium er-
zaéhlt auch der Praeco liberditatis, das Verzeichnis der
Stifter der Bibliothek. Da erscheinen 1600 Franciscus
Kockyne und Thomas Hunde, 1601 Jacob Lewes, dann
Stephanus Grinwich, 1612 Georgius Larding, weiter

Ambrosius Payn und sein gleichnamiger Sohn. Von
diesen Stiftern der ersten Zeit stammen aufler einem Him-
melsglobus 28 Werke in 35 Banden, die noch heute in der

Stadtblicherei vorhanden sind. In einen dicken Folioband,
Buntings Itinerarium et Chronicon ecclesiasticum totius
facrae icripturae, hat der spétere Ratsherr Georg Larding
eingetragen: ,,Thomae Lardingi Anglicanae iocietatis a
secretis in emporio Elbingens filius Georgius e gymnasio
Elbingensi discedens patre volente bibliothecae publicae
lubens meritoque dicavit anno a. Chr. nato 1612 kal,
u| O
were Englishmen. Quite a fair conception can be got of
the close connection of the English Colony with the
school, by scanning the Praeco liberalitatis, which is the
list of donors to the library. There we find in 1600,
Franciscus Kockyne and Thomas Hunde, in 1601 Jacob
Lewes, then Stephanus Grinwich, in 1612 George
Larding, further Ambrosius Payn and his son of the same
name. Apart from an astronomical globe, which is
preserved to this day in the Town Library, there are
28 complete works in 35 volumes still extant. In a
thick folio tome, Bunting's “Itinerarium et Chronicon
ecclesiasticum totius sacrae scripturag”, George Larding,
who in later years became town-councillor, inscribed the
following dedication: “Thomas Lardingi Anglicanae
societatis a secretis in emporio Elbingens filius Georgius
e gymnasio Elbingensi discedens patre volente biblio-
thecae publicae lubens meritoque dicavit anno a. Chr.
nato 1612 Kal. August.” (Thomas Larding's, secretary
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Epitaph Slocumbe, 1638, an der Klostermauer von St. Marien.

Slocumbe epitaph, dated 1638. On the monastery wall
St

of



August.” (Des Thomas Larding, der Englischen Gesell-
schaft im Handelsplatz Elbing Sekretars, Sohn Georg
weiht bei seinem Abgang vom Gymnasium dies mit Wil-
len des Vaters der offentlichen Bibliothek gerne und billig
im Jahre nach Christi Geburt 1612, am 1. August).

Nicht nur als Forderer der Bibliothek sind die Englan-
der im Elbinger Geistesleben hervorgetreten. Carl Ram-
sey der Aeltere ist bereits unter dem Namen Marcus a
Reylos unter die Elbinger Geschichtsschreiber gegangen.
Auch seinem Sohn, dem ersten Birgermeister Ramsey,
werden einige historische Schriften zugeschrieben. Der
Urenkel Carl Ernst Ramsey, seit 1756 Ratsherr und 1765
BiUrgermeister, hat in 15 Quart- und 15 Foliobénden eine
Sammlung historischer Schriften mit dem hier abgebilde-
ten Exlibris hinterlassen, auf dem das Ramseysche Wap-
pen zu sehen ist. Carl Ferdinand, der letzte Elbinger
0 a
of the English Society at the trading post of Elbing, son
George, on leaving the Classic School, dedicates this with
the consent of his father to the public library, willingly
and justly, in the year after the birth of Christ 1612,
Aug. 1st.).

The Englishmen did not confine their intellectual acti-
vity in Elbing to promoting the library. Charles Ramsey
senior already joined the ranks of the historians of
Elbing, under the name of Marcus a Reylos. Likewise, to
his son, the first mayor Ramsey, several historical essays
are attributed. His great-grandson Charles Ernest Ram-
sey, who was town-councillor in 1756 and mayor
in 1765, has left behind a collection of historical essays
contained in 15 quarto and 15 folio tomes, with the ex-
libris here reproduced, upon which the Ramsey coat-of-
arms can be seen. Charles Ferdinand, the last of the
Elbing Ramseys, wrote a semi-official chronicle of the city
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Epitaph des Ratsherrn Carl Ramley des Alteren, 1 1659,
an der Kloftermauer von St. Marien.

Epitaph of councillor Charles Ramsey sentor, died 1659.
F J ' : > a g
On the monastery wall of St. Mary’s.



Ramsey, hat eine von 1796 bis 1851 reichende offizitse
Chronik der Stadt geschrieben. Weiter ist Wilhelm
Rupson (1664 - 1718), zuletzt Pfarrer zu HI. Leich-
nam, der Enkel eines aus England eingewanderten Kauf-
manns Robinson, zu nennen, der eine wertvolle Chronik
verfaldt hat. Zu einer Uber alle lokalen Verhdltnisse weit
hinausragenden Berihmtheit hat es ein Ururenkel des aus
Stirling eingewanderten Thomas Auchinvole gebracht;
Gottfried Achenwall, geboren 1719 zu Elbing und gestor-
ben 1772 als Professor an der Universitat Gottingen, ist
noch heute bekannt als einer der Begrinder der wissen-
schaftlichen Statistik.

Unter den Rechten, die sich die Ostland-Kompagnie
vom Rat der Stadt Elbing fur ihre Niederlassung aus-
bedungen hatte, legte se groRen Wert auf die Erlaub-
nis, einen eigenen englischen Prediger halten zu durfen.
O a
which covers the period of 1796 until 1851. Further,
there is William Rupson (1664-1718) who compiled an
extremely valuable chronicle. He was the grandson of a
merchant named Robinson who had immigrated from
England, and became, in the end, pastor of Corpus
Christi at Elbing. And, in conclusion, we would mention
a man whose name became famous far beyond the loca
boundaries. It is that of Gottfried Achenwall, who was
born in Elbing in 1719 and died in 1772 as Professor at the
University of Goéttingen, highly esteemed to this day as
one of the founders of the science of statistics. He was a
great-great-grandson of Thomas Auchinvole of Stirling.

Among the privileges which the Eastland Company
had bargained for with the Council of Elbing before
their settlement, great importance was attached to the
permission to have their own English preacher. From
1624 to 1630 John Durie of Edinburgh performed that
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Epitaph fur Richard Whitelock von Beche, Katharina
von Dambitz, Anton Smyth von Cverdley, Catharina
Whitelock von Beche, errichtet 1656, an der Kloster-
mauer von St. Marien.

Epitaph of Richard Whitelock a Beche, Katharina von

Dambitz, Anthony Smyth a Cverdley, Catherine White-

lock a Beche. Erected in 1656. On the monastery wall
of St. Mary’s.




1624 bis 1630 versah John Durie aus Edinburgh dieses
Amt, der nachher von Skandinavien bis in die Schweiz
eine grol3e Tatigkeit entfaltete, um eine Union der pro-
testantischen Kirchen herbeizufthren. Die freundschaft-
lichen Beziehungen der englischen, bzw. schottischen Re-
formierten zu den Deutsch-Reformierten in Elbing bezeu-
gen die Inschriften eines Abendmahlskelches und einer
Schale im Kirchensilber der heutigen Reformierten Ge-
meinde. Der Kelch tragt auf der Unterseite des Fulles
die Widmung: , Gott zu Ehren verehrte Wilhelm Dur-
ham diesen Kelch der Elbingschen Reformierten Gemeinde.
Anno 1683” Auf der Unterseite der Schale ig ein-
graviert: ,Von der Bruderschaft Schottisher Nation der
Reformirten Gemeinde in Elbing verehret Anno 1692.
H.B.B.D. H S G S H W. W B. D. K. G. H."
u| O
Office. In later days he developed a wonderful activity,
from Scandinavia down to Switzerland, in order to bring
about aunion of the Protestant churches. The friendly
relations existing between the English and Scottish Re-
formed community on the one side, and the German Re-
formed community at Elbing on the other, are testified to
in the inscriptions contained on a chalice and a salver
preserved among the silver of the present Reformed Com-
munity. Inside the foot of the chalice we find the follow-
ing dedication “Gott zu Ehren verehrte Wilhelm Durham
diesen Kelch der Elbingschen Reformierten Gemeinde. Anno
1683". (To the glory of God, William Durharn dedicated
this chalice to the Elbing Reformed Community, in the
year 1693). Underneath the salver these words are
engraved: “Von der Bruderschaft Schottischer Nation der
Reformierten Gemeinde in Elbing verehret Anno 1692.
H. B. B.D. H. S . G. S H W.W. B. D. K. G. H"
(The Brotherhood of Scottish Nationality presented this
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Die englische Kolonie hielt sich zwar einen eigenen
Prediger, der im Hause der Kompagnie Gottesdienste ab-
hielt, se hat sich aber keinen eigenen Kirchhof angelegt,
sondern die der Elbinger Gemeinden mitbenutzt. Da
mals lag der Friedhof von St. Marien, der evangelischen
Hauptkirche der Altstadt und ehemaligen Dominikaner-
kirche, unmittelbar um die Kirche herum, mitten in der
Stadt. Hier sind eine Reihe englischer Grabdenkmaler
bis heute erhalten. Im Kreuzgang steht aufgerichtet ein
grofRer Grabstein, B
der unter 1621Jo- ==ty
hannes Slocumbe = -

aus London, seine Epitaph far
Gattin Barbara, L = Michael Achenwall,
geb. Schultz, und ; . +K| 1704,
m] a an der oster_mauer
to the Reformed | |f von St Marien
Community in the | Epitaph for
year 1692). 3 Michael Achenwall,
died 1704.

While the English 3
Colony had their
own preacher, :
who celebrated divine service in the Company building,
they did not provide a cemetery of their own but buried
their dead in those of the Elbing Communities. At that
time the cemetery of St. Mary’s, the main evangelical
church in the Old Town, formerly the Dominican church,
was situated in the middle of the town and occupied the
church-yard. Here we find a number of English memorid
stones preserved to this day. Standing upright in the
cloister there is a large tombstone upon which under
date 1621, the names of John Slocumbe of London, his
wife Barbara néeSchultz, and connections of theirs
a married couple by the name of Meienreis are inscribed.

. On the monastery
wall of St. Mary’'s,
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ein verschwéagertes Ehepaar Meienreis verzeichnet. Im
Klosterhof, der spéter zu einem Teil des Kirchhofes gewor-

den war, finden sch dann an der alten Klostermauer eine
Reihe Epitaphe der englischen Kolonie. Der erste von
diesen nach Westen tragt wieder den Namen Slocumbe
und die Jahreszahl 1638. Es ist wahrscheinlich das Grab-
mal, das der Erbauer des Siebengiebelhauses seiner 1638
gestorbenen ersten Gattin gesetzt hat. Dann folgt das
Grabmal des 1659 verstorbenen alteren Ratsherrn Carl
Ramsey. Unmittelbar daneben steht ein groRRer Epitaph,
den 1656 Richard Smyth seinen Eltern Anthonius Smyth
a Cverdley und Catharina Whitelock a Beche und seinen
GroReltern Richard Whitelock a Beche und Catharina
a Dambitz errichtet hat. Daran schliel3t sich noch ein
kleiner Epitaph far ein Mitglied der Familie Achenwall
an: Michael Achenwall, gestorben 1704. Die Sandstein-
o ]
In the monastery court, which at a later date was partly
turned into the churchyard, there are a number of
epitaphs of members of the English Colony on the wall.
Looking to the west, the first of these again bears the name
of Slocumbe, and is dated 1636. No doubt this is the
tombstone which the builder of the House of the Seven
Gables put up for his first wife who died in 1638. Then
there follows the tombstone of Councillor Charles
Ramsey senior who died in 1659. Immediately adjoining
this there is a large epitaph which was erected in 1656 by
Richard Smyth in memory of his parents Anthony Smyth
a Cverdley and Catherine Whitelock a Beche and his
grandparents Richard Whitelock a Beche and Catharine
aDambitz. Again adjoining this, there is a smaller
epitaph for a member of the family of Achenwall:
Michael Achenwall, died 1704. The sandstone ornamen-
tations of these epitaphs have, unfortunately, suffered
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Verzierungen der Epitaphe haben unter den Witterungs-
einflussen im Laufe der Zeit zum Teil leider stark
gelitten. Im Stadtischen Museum ist als Teil eines alten
Kirchenfensters aus der St.-Georgs-Kapelle eine Gedenk-
scheibe fir Albertus Duglas mit der Jahreszahl 1608 auf-
bewahrt.

Von den Englandern, die sich in den folgenden Jahr-
hunderten in Elbing niederliegen, hat sich Richard Cowle
geboren 1755 zu Berwik upon Tweed, durch die grol3e
nach ihm und seinem Schwager Pott benannte ,,Pott- und
Cowlesche Stif-
tung” ein be
sonders dank-
bares Gedéacht-

Gedenkscheibe
far Albert Duglas,

nis gesichert. 1608, aus der St.-

0 g 0l Georgs-Kapédlle,
. im Stadtischen

heavily under M USeum.

the climatic
conditions. In
the Municipal

| Memorial pane to
Albert Duglas,

dated 1608.
Museum Removed from
(Stéadtisches St. George's

chapel. Preserved
in the Municipal
Museum.

Museum) there
is preserved a
memorial win-
dow-pane dedicated to Albert Duglas, bearing the
date 1608, which erstwhile formed pnrt of an old
church-window from St. George's chapel. Among those
Englishmen who settled down in Elbing in the following
centuries, we mention the name of Richard Cowle born
in 1755 at Berwick upon Tweed, who secured for himself
an especially grateful memory by the generous
endowment of a fund which bears his name beside that
of his brother-in-law Pott: “ Pott- und Cowlesche Stiftung”.
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Geburtshrief der Stadt Stirling fiir Thomas Auchinvole, 1614,
24. Februar. Original im Stadtarchiv Elbing.

Birth-certicate of the city of Stirling for Thomas Auchinvole,
dated 1614, 24. February. Original preserved in the Municipal
Archives at Elbing.
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Die reichsten, wenn auch &uRerlich die am wenigsten
eindrucksvollen Erinnerungen an die Niederlassung der
Ostland-Kompagnie und die englische Kolonie in Elbing
birgt das Elbinger Stadtarchiv. Da liegt neben den Ver-
handlungen mit den englischen Unterhéndlern, den
Schreiben Carls I. und vielen anderen Dokumenten auch
der Geburtsbrief der Stadt Dundee fUr den Stammvater
der Elbinger Ramseys und der andere der Stadt Stirling
fur Thomas Auchinvole mit dem groRRen Wachssiegel an
drei breiten blauen Seidenbandern.
| 0

The richest harvest of memories of the settlement of the
Eastland Company and the English Colony at Elbing —
abeit outwardly the least impressive — is to be gathered
in the municipal archives. (Stadtarchiv). Here we find the
minutes of the negotiations with the English agents the
letters of Charles I., and many other documents lying
beside the birth-certificate from Dundee of the first of
the Elbing Ramseys, and that of Thomas Auchinvole

from Stirling, with a large wax seal atached to three
broad blue silk ribbons.

D r. Hermann Kownatzki.
Translated by W. Baumfelder.

Herausgegeben vom Magistra der Stadt Elbing.
Published by the Municipal Governmentof Elbing.
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Rekonstruktion des Hauses Schmiedestr. 10 von Herrn
K. Hauke nach einem &lteren Lichtbild und einer Skizze
von H. Stobbe.

Es ist zu vermuten, dal? der Bauherr, der schottische
Kaufmann Alexander sich Bauleute aus seiner
Heimat mitbrachte, da tUber den Fenstern statt der
ublichen Korbbtgen der sogenannte Tudorbogen ver-
wandt wurde. Ein reiches Portal und ein Beischlag zier-
ten einst das Erdgeschol3. Es besal3 die ungewohnliche
Breite von 13 m. Die einzelnen Geschosse waren durch
Friese aus Stein voneinander getrennt. Die Hausecken
waren durch Eckquadern betont. Regelméidige verteilte
Steinbander unterstrichen die Horizontalgliederung der
Gesimse, die noch im Giebel fortgesetzt wurde. Die Um-
ridlinie des Giebels setzte sich aus Geraden und Tellen
des Kreises zusammen und bot so ein harmonisches,
ruhiges Bild.

Der mustergiltige Umbau des Hauses zu einem
modernen Ladengeschéftshaus erfolgte im Jahre 1925
durch Prof. Fischer. Sein letzter Besitzer war der Kauf-
mann Paul Salewski (Salden).






